

MACDONALD-LAURIER INSTITUTE

Sustaining the Crude Economy

Future prospects for Canada's global energy competitiveness

By Laura Dawson and Stefania Bartucci OCTOBER 2012





MACDONALD-LAURIER INSTITUTE *True North in Canadian Public Policy*





Board of Directors

CHAIR Rob Wildeboer Chairman, Martinrea International Inc., Toronto

MANAGING DIRECTOR Brian Lee Crowley Former Clifford Clark Visiting Economist at Finance Canada

SECRETARY Lincoln Caylor Partner, Bennett Jones, Toronto

TREASURER Martin MacKinnon CFO, Black Bull Resources Inc., Halifax

DIRECTORS John Beck Chairman and CEO, Aecon Construction Ltd., Toronto

Erin Chutter President and CEO, Puget Ventures Inc., Vancouver

Navjeet (Bob) Dhillon CEO, Mainstreet Equity Corp., Calgary

Keith Gillam Former CEO of VanBot Construction Ltd., Toronto

Wayne Gudbranson CEO, Branham Group, Ottawa

Stanley Hartt Chair, Macquarie Capital Markets Canada

Les Kom BMO Nesbitt Burns, Ottawa

Peter John Nicholson Former President, Canadian Council of Academies, Ottawa

Rick Peterson President, Peterson Capital, Vancouver

Jacquelyn Thayer Scott Past President, Professor, Cape Breton University, Sydney

Advisory Council

Purdy Crawford Former CEO, Imasco, Counsel at Osler Hoskins

Jim Dinning Former Treasurer of Alberta

Don Drummond Economics Advisor to the TD Bank, Matthews Fellow in Global Policy and Distinguished Visiting Scholar at the School of Policy Studies at Queen's University

Brian Flemming International lawyer, writer and policy advisor

Robert Fulford Former editor of *Saturday Night* magazine, columnist with the *National Post*, Toronto

Calvin Helin Aboriginal author and entrepreneur, Vancouver

Hon. Jim Peterson Former federal cabinet minister, Partner at Fasken Martineau, Toronto

Maurice B. Tobin The Tobin Foundation, Washington DC

Research Advisory Board

Janet Ajzenstat Professor Emeritus of Politics, McMaster University

Brian Ferguson Professor, health care economics, University of Guelph

Jack Granatstein Historian and former head of the Canadian War Museum

Patrick James Professor, University of Southern California

Rainer Knopff Professor of Politics, University of Calgary

Larry Martin George Morris Centre, University of Guelph

Christopher Sands Senior Fellow, Hudson Institute, Washington DC

William Watson Associate Professor of Economics, McGill University

Table of Contents

Executive Summary2				
Sommaire exécutif	4			
Canada's Energy Endowment	6			
Backdrop to a Canadian Energy Strategy	6			
Whither a Canadian strategy?	8			
Canada's Role in Global Markets and the No	eed			
for Diversification	9			
Global Demand	10			
International Competition	11			
Canada's Competitiveness Challenges	. 12			
Distribution and Infrastructure	12			
Pipelines and Alternatives	12			
Refining Infrastructure	14			
Regulatory Challenges	16			
Uneven or Inadequate Aboriginal Consultation.	18			

Shortage of Skilled Labour
Trade and Investment Rules
Trade Related Environmental Measures21
Investment
Royalties and Provincial Cooperation
in Energy23
Conclusion24
Appendix 1: The Economics of Petroleum
Upgrading and Refining in Canada26
-
Upgrading Bitumen226
Upgrading Bitumen226 Economic Rationale27
Upgrading Bitumen226 Economic Rationale27 Appendix 2: Budget 2012 and the Shift
Upgrading Bitumen
Upgrading Bitumen

The authors of this document have worked independently and are solely responsible for the views presented here. The opinions are not necessarily those of the Macdonald-Laurier Institute, its Directors or Supporters.

Executive Summary

anada is a nation rich in energy resources. Oil, natural gas, hydro, uranium, coal, wind – Canada has abundant supplies of renewable and non-renewable resources. Our 173 billion barrels of proven oil reserves place us third globally, behind Saudi Arabia and Venezuela, and we are the only non-OPEC member in the top five. Canada is the largest foreign supplier of oil to the United States and we are the world's third largest natural gas producer and exporter.

But the game is changing: shrinking US demand for imports, inability to service Asian markets, distribution bottlenecks, inefficient regulatory processes, and labour shortages are hurting Canadian competitiveness. Although the hydroelectric and renewables sectors have challenges in their own right, none has earned the public and political attention given to the oil and gas sector, as stakeholders work to create a competitive and sustainable industry for the 21st century.

The long-term shift in demand towards Asian markets means that the US will account for a diminishing share of Canadian exports, replaced by emerging market customers, China first among them. On the face of it, Canada is in an enviable position: it has a rich endowment of commodities for which there is an insatiable global demand. What stands in the way of Canada's ability to take advantage of this economic windfall? There are a number of actions Canada must take today in order to position itself for competitiveness in the global oil and gas sector tomorrow.

Canada must take action today to be positioned for competitiveness tomorrow.

Distribution is the top priority so that Canadian energy products can get to new markets more efficiently. Perhaps the greatest frustration for Canadian producers is the lack of access to the tidal water in order to reach fast growing Asian markets.

Finding environmentally responsible and efficient ways to transport energy products is a lynchpin of our future success as a global energy leader. As well, although improving access to refineries on the US Gulf Coast and possibly eastern Canada makes more economic sense than building new capacity in Canada, it is important for governments, industry, and the public to carefully consider the full spectrum of costs and benefits of establishing a more self-sufficient national energy sector.

Regulatory inefficiency is a major impediment to investment and growth. The costs and uncertain timelines associated with the review process pose significant risks to project proponents, which can cause them to reconsider their plans to proceed with a project, or not to invest at all. At the same time, the government has a mandate to protect the public interest, and ensure that the social and environmental externalities of major projects are properly addressed. This is complicated by the fact that major energy projects fall within areas of both federal and provincial jurisdiction, requiring approvals from several government departments and agencies touching on issues ranging from environmental safety to public interest to Aboriginal rights and land and water use.

Distribution is the top priority for improving energy in Canada.

Continued streamlining of the regulatory process goes hand in hand with the expansion of distribution capacity. However, progress depends on an approach by business and government that balances economic efficiencies with environmental sustainability and Aboriginal rights. The government's recent reform of the regulatory process may very well improve the efficiency of project approvals in Canada. Time will tell. Working towards a consultative process with Aboriginal communities where roles and responsibilities are more clearly defined will help reduce uncertainty and the potential for legal challenges.

Canada must also work harder to build the skills that are needed in the energy sector. Some of the workforce shortage can be filled through temporary and permanent migration, but education and social policy must be focused on building a skilled domestic labour pool as well. Here, Canada has an opportunity to mobilize underemployed segments of the population, particularly Aboriginal communities, and provide them with the training needed to participate in the energy sector workforce.

Externally, our formal trade and investment agreements must reflect the priorities of national energy competitiveness and create a level playing field in order for Canada's industry to grow in global markets.

Does Canada need a comprehensive national energy strategy? The notion of a Canadian Energy Strategy (CES) has preoccupied media commentary for much of 2012. We argue that the answer is no. The energy sector across Canada is so diverse that progress in any one subsector would be very difficult, with provincial premiers competing to promote their regional interests. The Council of the Federation is a well-established mechanism to foster and promote interprovincial dialogue. Reinventing this in a separate sphere would serve no purpose. Moreover, Canada's comprehensive consultative mechanism allows many opportunities for input from business and civil society stakeholders.

To be sure, existing policies and programs are not complete. More can be done to address environmental, regulatory, labour, and distribution challenges. However, existing mechanisms and institutions have the capacity and authority to deal with the competitive challenges facing Canada in all areas but one. It is clear that provincial disputes over allocation of resource revenues are going to continue to flare up as the sector grows, and as infrastructure and risk cross provincial boundaries. The existing system of equalization payments will not be enough to address the grievances of provinces that believe that bearing a greater share of the environmental risk imposed by new pipelines and infrastructure entitles them to a greater share of financial compensation. The opportunity cost for Alberta is significant. Growth of the oil and gas sector, and thus the prosperity of the province, depends on the ability to export to new markets. This in turn may require new mechanisms of cooperation between provinces. Certainly, the current debates between Alberta and British Columbia will not be the last. The steps we take today will enable us to deal with similar challenges in the future, so that provincial disputes do not become obstacles to competitiveness.

Sommaire exécutif

Le Canada est une superpuissance énergétique. Il possède d'abondantes réserves renouvelables et non renouvelables : pétrole, gaz naturel, hydroélectricité, uranium, charbon et énergie éolienne. Pour ses réserves confirmées de pétrole, qui atteignent 173 milliards de barils, il est le troisième au monde, derrière l'Arabie saoudite et le Venezuela, et le seul pays non membre de l'OPEP parmi les cinq premiers. Le Canada est également le plus grand fournisseur des États-Unis en pétrole. Il est le troisième producteur et exportateur de gaz naturel au monde.

Mais les forces en jeu se transforment : baisse de la demande américaine pour les importations, insuffisance d'infrastructures pour approvisionner les marchés asiatiques, goulots d'étranglement dans la distribution, inefficacité des processus de réglementation et pénuries de main-d'œuvre. Ces facteurs nuisent tous à la capacité concurrentielle du Canada. Bien que l'hydroélectricité et les énergies renouvelables posent des défis bien à eux, aucune n'a pu obtenir l'intérêt public et politique suscité par les partenaires de l'industrie pétrolière et gazière, qui oeuvrent à créer une industrie concurrentielle et durable pour le 21e siècle.

Ainsi, la demande à long terme se déplace vers les marchés asiatiques. Ceci signifie que la part des États-Unis dans les exportations canadiennes diminuera, mais que celle des marchés émergents, avec la Chine en tête, augmentera. Le Canada se retrouve dans une position enviable : il est riche en marchandises de base pour lesquelles la demande mondiale est difficile à assouvir. Pour peu que des obstacles n'aliènent le Canada de cette manne économique, des mesures prises dès aujourd'hui lui permettront d'être concurrentiel dans le secteur du pétrole et du gaz de demain.

C'est pourquoi la distribution est au cœur des priorités, car il faut assurer que les produits énergétiques canadiens puissent être écoulés de façon efficace dans les nouveaux marchés. La plus grande irritation des producteurs est probablement leur incapacité à tirer profit de la croissance rapide en Asie parce que l'accès à la côte du Pacifique est déficient.

Le Canada doit agir dès aujourd'hui pour être prêt à répondre aux défis concurrentiels de demain.

Pour que le Canada soit un chef de file mondial dans le domaine de l'énergie, il est essentiel que la distribution de l'énergie soit efficiente et qu'elle respecte les enjeux environnementaux. En outre, même s'il est plus rentable d'améliorer l'accès aux raffineries du golfe du Mexique et peut-être aussi de l'est du Canada que d'accroître la capacité au pays, les gouvernements, l'industrie et le public devront bien mesurer toute l'étendue des avantages et des coûts d'un accroissement de l'autosuffisance dans le secteur de l'énergie.

L'expansion de la capacité de distribution nécessite l'examen constant des processus de réglementation. Toutefois, les progrès réalisés dépendent de l'approche adoptée par les entreprises et le gouvernement pour équilibrer les objectifs liés à l'efficience économique, à la protection de l'environnement et au respect des droits des Premières Nations. La réforme récente de la réglementation menée par le gouvernement pourrait rendre plus productifs les processus d'approbation des projets. Seul le temps pourra le confirmer. Travailler à un processus de consultation avec les Premières nations qui définit clairement les rôles et les responsabilités de chacun permettra de réduire l'incertitude et les risques de contestations judiciaires.

L'inefficacité de la réglementation constitue un obstacle majeur à l'investissement et à la croissance. Les coûts et les échéanciers incertains des processus d'examen comportent des risques importants pour les promoteurs et peuvent les amener à réduire, à remettre ou, encore, à se retirer complètement de certains projets. En revanche, le gouvernement a comme mandat de protéger l'intérêt public et de tenir compte des externalités sociales et environnementales. Cette situation se complique par le fait que les grand projets relèvent de compétences à la fois fédérale et provinciale, ce qui nécessite l'approbation de la part de plusieurs ministères et organismes responsables de domaines aussi vastes que la protection de l'environnement, l'intérêt public, les droits des Autochtones et l'utilisation du territoire et des ressources en eau.

Le Canada doit travailler très fort pour acquérir les compétences nécessaires dans le secteur de l'énergie. La pénurie de main-d'œuvre peut être comblée en partie par la migration de travailleurs temporaires et permanents. Elle peut également être allégée par des politiques en éducation et dans le domaine social qui mettent l'accent sur la constitution d'une réserve intérieure de travailleurs qualifiés. Au pays, on peut compter sur certains segments sous-employés de la main-d'œuvre, notamment à l'intérieur des Premières nations, à condition de leur fournir la formation nécessaire.

Mais encore, la compétitivité du secteur doit être au centre des accords internationaux du Canada dans les domaines de l'investissement et du commerce afin d'assurer à son industrie une place de choix sur les marchés étrangers.

Le Canada a-t-il besoin d'une stratégie énergétique nationale globale? La notion d'une stratégie énergétique canadienne (Canadian Energy Strategy) a soulevé bien des débats dans les médias pendant la majeure partie de 2012. Nous soutenons que la réponse à cette question est négative. Le secteur de l'énergie au Canada est si divers qu'un consensus serait très difficile à atteindre dans n'importe lequel de ses sous-secteurs, les premiers ministres provinciaux disputant tous la promotion de leurs intérêts régionaux. D'ailleurs, pour dialoguer entre elles, les provinces peuvent déjà compter sur le Conseil de la fédération, un mécanisme bien établi. Réinventer un tel forum dans une sphère distincte serait infructueux. En outre, l'ensemble des mécanismes de consultation au Canada sollicite abondamment la participation des gens d'affaires et des citoyens.

Certes, les politiques et les programmes existants sont incomplets. Le Canada pourrait faire mieux pour s'attaquer aux problèmes de l'environnement, de la réglementation, du travail et de la distribution de l'énergie. Cependant, il n'y a qu'un terrain sur lequel les mécanismes et les institutions en place n'ont ni la capacité ni l'autorité pour faire face aux défis de la compétitivité canadienne. On parle ici du palier provincial de gouvernement à cause des différends sur la répartition des revenus. Manifestement, ces différends vont continuer de prendre de l'ampleur au fur et à mesure que le secteur se développera et que l'infrastructure et les risques traverseront d'une province à l'autre. Le système actuel des paiements de péréquation ne peut répondre adéquatement aux doléances des provinces qui estiment mériter une compensation financière pour l'accroissement du risque environnemental imposé par les nouveaux pipelines et diverses infrastructures. Le coût d'opportunité pour l'Alberta est considérable. La croissance et la production de pétrole et de gaz, et donc la prospérité de la province, dépendent de sa capacité à exporter vers de nouveaux marchés. De nouveaux mécanismes de coopération seront donc nécessaires, car les problèmes actuels entre l'Alberta et la Colombie-Britannique ne seront pas les derniers. Les mesures prises aujourd'hui nous permettront de faire face à des défis similaires dans l'avenir, afin que les différends provinciaux ne deviennent pas des obstacles à la compétitivité.

5

Canada's Energy Endowment

anada is rich in renewable and non-renewable energy sources including oil, natural gas, wind, hydro, and coal. Most of our natural gas and oil (including bitumen from oil sands) are located in Western Canada (British Columbia [BC], Alberta, and Saskatchewan), the Yukon, and Northwest Territories. Nova Scotia and Newfoundland also have significant reserves of offshore oil, while Quebec and New Brunswick boast large stores of shale gas. Canada has hydropower assets across the country, with the greatest concentration in Ontario, Quebec, and the Maritime provinces. Saskatchewan is a major producer of uranium for the nuclear industry. Alberta and BC are also large coal producers, some of which is used for domestic consumption and most for export.

Although we have strong export shares for other energy commodities, it is Canadian oil and gas that has earned us the reputation as an "energy superpower". Our 173 billion barrels of proven oil reserves place us third globally, behind Saudi Arabia and Venezuela, and we are the only non-OPEC member in the top five. Canada is also the largest foreign supplier of oil to the United States (US). Canada is the world's third largest natural gas producer and exporter.¹

But the game is changing: shrinking US demand, inability to service Asian markets, distribution bottlenecks, inefficient regulatory processes, and labour shortages are hurting Canadian competitiveness. Although the hydroelectric and renewables sectors have challenges in their own right, none has earned the public and political attention of the oil and gas sector as stakeholders work to create a competitive and sustainable industry for the 21st century.

This paper will explore the challenges affecting Canada's oil and gas sector competitiveness and discuss which actions – public and private – should be taken to maximize the benefits of Canada's resource endowment. The first question is one of approach: do the relevant provincial and federal governments have the authority and the capacity needed to deal with these challenges or are new mechanisms or institutions necessary? The notion of a Canadian Energy Strategy (CES) has preoccupied media commentary for much of 2012. Is there really a policy gap that must be filled by another federal-provincial institution or does the CES debate simply provide a platform to air interprovincial grievances?

Backdrop to a Canadian Energy Strategy

In Canada, jurisdiction over natural resources and energy is divided between the provinces and the federal government. The provinces have authority over resources within their territories. The federal government is responsible for resources on federal and Aboriginal lands and regulates the international and interprovincial movement of energy and energy goods.

Jurisdiction over natural resources is divided between the provinces and the federal government.

In November 2011, Alberta Premier Alison Redford proposed a Canadian Energy Strategy in a speech to the Economic Club in Toronto. Although her proposal lacked specifics, she cited the need to "use energy to foster our economic growth and competitiveness."² Among the goals she identified were sustainability and environmental protection, addressing regulatory concerns and infrastructure gaps, reduced dependence on US markets, and the ability to service Asian market demands more effectively. The CES mechanisms for achieving these goals would include collective action, transparency, and broad-based consultation.

The notion of a CES did not come out of the blue. In 1980, the Trudeau government's National Energy Program (NEP) sought to ensure domestic control of the oil industry by restricting foreign investment. This hurt not only foreign investors but also the Canadian companies with whom they collaborated. Restrictions on foreign investment, together with other federal interventions to tax the predominantly western industry and establish a 'made-in-Canada' oil price across the country, were perceived in the west as unreasonable meddling by central Canada.³ The animosity created by the NEP still resonates with Albertans today.

In 2007, the provincial premiers, through the Council of the Federation, aimed to rehabilitate the concept of federal-provincial cooperation on energy. Their seven point plan for energy growth and sustainability⁴ hit on many of the problems with which the industry continues to struggle, among them infrastructure, regulatory duplication, environmental sustainability, and labour market shortages. But without a budget and with responsibility for moving the agenda forward divided among ten provinces and three territories, little progress has been made.

Given the legacy of the NEP and the minefields of interprovincial relations, it is not surprising that the Prime Minister and his Cabinet have been mostly mum on a possible CES. When asked to comment on the Redford proposal in January, Prime Minister Harper responded by saying he wasn't sure what a Canadian energy strategy means.⁵ More recently, Natural Resources Minister Joe Oliver commented that there is no need for a Canadian energy strategy because Ottawa already has one.⁶

Lack of involvement at the federal level stems from a reluctance to impinge on provincial authority. Since taking office, Stephen Harper's approach to federal-provincial relations has been to leave the provinces alone,⁷ and as such, it's unlikely that the federal government will get involved on the issue of a Canadian Energy Strategy unless the provinces request specific intervention pertaining to issues of federal jurisdiction.

Although the federal government has not been significantly involved in energy talks among the provinces, the resource economy is clearly a priority for Harper, as demonstrated by recent changes in the environmental assessment process for major projects, the government's support for Enbridge's Northern Gateway pipeline project, and the push for stronger trade ties with Asian nations through the Trans-Pacific Partnership and various bilateral initiatives.

Federal level interest in a Canadian Energy Strategy has come from sources outside of the Prime Minister's Office and Cabinet. The Senate Committee on Energy, the Environment and Natural Resources released a report in July 2012 outlining 13 priorities for energy development in Canada. The report

RESPONSIBILITY FOR ENERGY AND ENVIRONMENT MATTERS IN CANADA

Provincial/Territorial Jurisdiction

- Resource exploration, development, and management within provincial borders (including electricity systems within provincial borders)
- Regulation and legislative framework as it pertains to energy supplies to consumers
- Taxation policy and resource royalties on resources within provincial boundaries
- Intraprovincial movement of energy and goods
- Property and civil rights, including land use, environmental, health, and safety issues
- Environmental issues associated with land use planning; hazardous waste; water, and wastewater; air emissions; wildlife protection

Federal Jurisdiction

- Resource exploration, development, and management on federally owned land in the North and offshore areas
- Uranium and the regulation of nuclear safety and waste management
- Trans-boundary environmental impacts (air and marine pollution, fisheries, navigable waters, wildlife protection) environmental assessments and environmental permits
- Taxation policy and resource royalties on resources on federal lands
- Interprovincial and international movement of energy and energy goods
- Policies in the national interest (including economic development, energy security, R&D, energy product standards, and labelling)

7

is the result of three years of study, and has the bipartisan support of all committee members. Its major competitiveness building recommendations include building a comprehensive and safe energy infrastructure, fostering a skilled workforce, and a creating a streamlined project regulatory system.⁸

A comprehensive Canadian Energy Strategy is controversial.

Is there a need for a new mechanism, in the form of a Canadian energy strategy or otherwise, to manage interprovincial and/or federal-provincial cooperation on energy issues to fill a gap not already served by existing mechanisms? Responses from stakeholders have been varied. Although diametrically opposed on many issues, both the business community and many NGOs support the concept.9 Support among Aboriginal groups is more guarded. Many are willing to go along with a new arrangement as long as they are viewed as an equal partner.¹⁰ Others are more pessimistic. Calgary Herald editorialist Licia Corbella argues that Redford's CES is a way to score political points at the expense of Alberta's sovereignty over its energy resources.¹¹ The Frontier Centre for Public Policy, a Western Canadian think tank, argues that energy markets have existed without a single coordinated strategy for centuries and warns that a Canadian energy strategy would be dominated by "environmental entrepreneurs" who will impose higher prices to subsidize "doom fantasies of a vocal minority."12

The push for a Canadian Energy Strategy has been led by Alberta with support from Saskatchewan, but even among premiers there is little agreement about what such a strategy would look like. One thing that has become clear is that BC Premier Christy Clark intends to oppose a Canadian Energy Strategy if BC's interests vis-à-vis the Northern Gateway pipeline are not met.¹³ At first blush, Ontario Premier Dalton McGuinty appeared unsupportive of the concept, arguing that the strength of Alberta's resource economy has driven up the dollar and, as a result, disadvantaged Ontario's manufacturers.¹⁴ Premier McGuinty has since come around to support the concept of a national strategy, but only insofar as Ontario's interests in hydro, renewables, and energy efficiency would be represented. This will inevitably be the position of every Canadian premier: their province's interests must be represented in order to garner their support for a CES.

Diverse provincial strengths complicate agreement on the focus of a national strategy.

These reactions highlight the differences in each province's energy interests, stemming from the differences in energy endowments and each premier's political circumstances. It also shows the great risk of such a strategy becoming incoherent due to such divergent interests, or of becoming bogged down by interprovincial politics.¹⁵

Whither a Canadian strategy?

There is a rich academic literature that attempts to explain why governments and organizations cooperate. Whether one studies game theory to discuss the rationality of cooperation among individuals¹⁶ or regime theory to understand why states sacrifice sovereignty and autonomy to work together,¹⁷ the answer boils down to the same thing – entities cooperate when collective action will help them to solve a problem that individual action, or the status quo, cannot.

In this paper, we adopt two assumptions. First, for the CES to be justified, it must provide mechanisms to achieve public policy goals that could not be achieved through the status quo. Secondly, if a strategy can be justified, it would not be practical to apply it across all energy sectors, at least not all at once.¹⁸ Since most of the current public debate focuses on the oil and gas sector, we focus our attentions there. If a strategy is necessary, then the structures and lessons from oil and gas could be extended outwards. Indeed, many of the same reg-

ulatory, Aboriginal, and interprovincial issues are common to hydro and megaprojects of all sorts.

The next section will set the context of Canada's current role in global markets and outline the rationale for diversification. We will examine the challenges facing oil sector competitiveness in Canada, and then return to a discussion of whether a Canadian strategy could further the achievement of competitiveness goals at the conclusion of the paper.

Canada's Role in Global Markets and the Need for Diversification

anada is a net energy exporter. Oil and natural gas make up approximately 23 percent of our exports.¹⁹ The US is by far Canada's largest export market, consuming 91 percent of our total energy exports in 2011.



Canada is a net energy exporter.

Economists describe Canada's energy export market as a monopsony (a demand side monopoly). Whatever terminology is used, many find Canada's dependence on a single customer worrisome. Others are more sanguine about Canada's ability to diversify in order to respond to global demand, wherever it comes from.

Currently, a very small percentage of our energy exports are destined for Asian markets (see figure 1).

FIGURE 1 Top 10 destinations for Canadian energy exports, 2011



Although Japan, South Korea and China placed in the top five destinations for energy exports in 2011, each accounted for less than a 2 percent share.²⁰

China is Canada's fifth largest customer for all energy exports. Figure 2 shows the breakdown of energy exports to China in 2011.



9

As discussed below, we expect significant growth in Chinese demand for all forms of Canadian energy in the future, but coal – despite media hype about China's thirst for Canadian oil – makes up most of Canada's energy exports to China (around 63 percent).²¹

Canada ranks as the world's 14th largest oil net exporter (see figure 3a), but is third only to Saudi Arabia and Venezuela in proven reserves (see figure 3b).

FIGURE 3A Top world net oil exporters, 2011



FIGURE 3B World proved oil reserves, 2011



This indicates a great potential for Canada to move up the ranks and become one of the world's largest exporters of oil, but we will have to be able compete in a global market where other oil producing nations are capable of fulfilling market demand .

Global Demand

The global energy market is changing. Fast growing emerging market economies are replacing OECD countries in terms of global demand (see figure 4).

FIGURE 4 Non-OECD total energy consumption, 2005-2011



In 2011, Asia eclipsed the OECD as the world's largest energy consumer and China and India accounted for over 75 percent of energy consumption in Asia.²² (For more information, see the sidebar on China's energy outlook.)

CHINA'S ENERGY OUTLOOK

- China's energy demand is growing at 18 percent per annum
- Imports are expected to make up 70 percent of China's total consumption by 2020
- China will consume 70 percent more energy than the US by 2035
- China will account for 21 percent of world energy consumption by 2025

Source: Alberta Department of Energy

As demand from emerging markets is expanding, demand from mature economies is shrinking in both absolute and relative terms. Energy consumption in OECD countries, particularly those in Europe, has decreased steadily since 2001. Figures 5a and 5b show US Energy Information Administration (EIA) projections through 2035 for world energy consumption.





FIGURE 5B Projected total energy consumption in OECD countries, 2011-2035



By 2035, the EIA predicts that non-OECD states will account for the largest global share of energy consumption. Total non-OECD energy use is expected to grow by 72 percent, compared with an 18 percent increase in energy use among OECD countries.²³

International Competition

In terms of international competition, Canada remains a global energy supplier of choice due to its stable governance and political situation, adherence to trade and investment rules, and fair regulatory regime. Other markets that currently supply the US and Asia (such as Iran and Nigeria) cannot boast these attributes. However, should Canada be unable to supply these nations due to its own challenges, there are other energy exporting nations that will fill the demand, leaving Canada with an ever shrinking share of the pie.

Canada's reputation for stability and fair play makes us internationally competitive.

Interestingly, the shale gas boom in the US Midwest, Gulf Coast, and in the eastern Great Lakes region means that the US is fast transitioning from customer to competitor.²⁴ Shale gas extraction only became economically viable in the late 1990s as a result of advancements in seismic imaging technology, horizontal drilling, and hydraulic fracturing (fracking).²⁵ Shale gas is providing a growing share of US natural gas, and the US EIA forecasts that by 2022 the country will become a net exporter of natural gas. This major shift in domestic production indicates that the days of the US absorbing unlimited supplies of Canadian natural gas are over. As Maria van der Hoeven, executive director of the International Energy Agency, pointedly stated, "the future of Canadian gas is in Asia."26 In addition to a growth in domestic supply of natural gas, US demand for oil imports is expected to decline from its current level of about 50 percent of total consumption to 36 percent by 2035. Tighter fuel efficiency standards, increased use of biofuels, and greater production of domestic petroleum are all contributing to US energy self-sufficiency.²⁷

The future of Canadian gas is in Asia. Maria van der Hoeven, IEA

In addition to competing in global markets with liquefied natural gas (LNG) exports²⁸ from the US, Canada's LNG exports will also compete in Asia with Australian LNG. In 2010, Australia was the world's fourth largest LNG exporter and, over the past decade, its LNG exports have increased 60 percent.²⁹ The vast majority of these exports are destined for markets in Asia (primarily Japan) but also China, South Korea, and Taiwan. Australian LNG exports are expected to more than triple by 2017 as the country plays a greater role in satisfying global energy demand.³⁰

The long term shift in demand towards Asian markets means that the US will account for a diminishing share of Canadian exports, replaced by emerging market customers, China first among them. On the face of it, Canada is in an enviable position: it has a rich endowment of commodities for which there is an insatiable global demand. What stands in the way of Canada's ability to take advantage of this economic windfall? We will examine potential roadblocks in the next section. product freely to processing facilities and to a broad range of customers exacerbates Canada's dependency on a single buyer. Any reduction in US demand directly affects the viability of the Canadian industry. Canada's ability to ship oil to Asia is severely limited. Diversification is necessary to ensure security of demand and to ensure that producers receive a fair price for their product. (A detailed discussion on the economics of refining and processing is found in appendix 1.)

PIPELINES AND ALTERNATIVES

Perhaps the greatest frustration for Canadian producers is the lack of access to the Pacific coast in order to reach fast growing Asian markets. China, in particular, is showing its enthusiasm for Canada's resource sector by investing billions of dollars in projects in Alberta's oil sands. Although China is seeking to build energy capacity at home, its economic growth is fuelled by imported energy. The Government of China has called on Chinese enterprises to secure, explore, and extract additional energy and resources from around the world, as evidenced by its growing acquisitions in Canada and worldwide.³²

The Canadian oil and gas industry developed with a focus on serving the US market. Canada had neither the market size nor the geographical proximity to induce producers in Alberta to invest in infrastructure to serve Eastern Canadian markets. Similarly, when oil resources were first being developed in Alberta, American companies essentially controlled these operations. Canadian banks didn't see value in the sector and as a result, very little in-

Canada's Competitiveness Challenges

Distribution and Infrastructure

istribution gaps are the number one impediment to Canada's competitiveness as an energy exporter.³¹ Inability to move

Canadian producers need access to tide water to reach Asian markets.

vestment from Eastern Canada made its way out west. Paul Chastko, in his seminal work on the development of Alberta's oil industry, argues "Large American multinationals, like Standard Oil of New Jersey, Chevron, and Amoco, with their large transportation and refining capacities enabled Alberta's growth to take place."³³

Because Americans were some of the first investors to start developing western Canadian oil and gas resources, a lot of the infrastructure was built to service the US (see figures 6a and 6b).

FIGURE 6A Canada-US natural gas pipelines



FIGURE 6B Canada-US oil pipelines³⁴



American companies were shipping to their home country both to serve the market and to build up US strategic reserves. Another reason for the northsouth orientation of energy infrastructure is that north-south transportation costs are lower than east-west costs given the significant difference in proximity to major Albertan oil hubs. (Consider that the distance between Edmonton and Cushing, Oklahoma is 3100 km and the distance between Edmonton and Halifax is 4800 km.) Furthermore, by extending infrastructure into the US, producers were able to access a competitive refining sector in the US Midwest. The legacy is that distribution infrastructure more effectively serves the US market.

While some Western Canadian oil does make it to Ontario and parts of Quebec, markets in Eastern Canada are still largely served by imports from the Middle East, Central Asia, Africa, and Norway. These imports, which more accurately reflect current world prices, sell at higher prices than domestically produced oil. This accounts for the price disparity between these eastern Canadian markets, supplied by imports, and western markets, supplied by domestic sources.³⁵

Markets in Eastern Canada are still largely served by oil imports.

Pipelines tend to be the most effective and lowest cost means of shipping large volumes of crude oil and natural gas. Building more pipelines seems the most obvious way to expand Canada's energy capacity and competitiveness, yet several factors mitigate against the easy expansion of pipeline infrastructure. These include:

- the regulatory review process in Canada and the US,
- Aboriginal land use rights,
- safety concerns about land and marine spills, and tanker traffic in ports,
- lack of sufficient skilled labour, and
- lack of related infrastructure, such as marine terminals, to handle large tankers.

Rail transport has been promoted as an alternative means to move product from Alberta to the West

CLEARING THE MIDWEST BOTTLENECK

In previous years when US domestic production and supply was low, a network of pipelines moved crude oil from Cushing, Oklahoma to Gulf Coast refineries and then refined products from the coasts to the interior. However, the development of shale oil potential in Montana, North Dakota, and Texas, plus an increase of Canadian imports into the US Midwest, has placed great demands on existing pipeline infrastructure, to the extent where production could exceed pipeline capacity within the decade.

As a result, pipeline companies are racing to build new pipelines (or reverse the flow of existing ones) in order to bring distribution infrastructure into line with current realities:

- In late May, the 500 mile Seaway pipeline was reversed to carry up to 850,000 barrels of crude per day from Cushing to Freeport, Texas.
- By the end of 2013, TransCanada should be finished building the \$2.4 billion southern leg of its Keystone pipeline that will also run from Cushing to the Texas Gulf coast.

- By 2014, Enbridge, a part owner of the Seaway pipeline, plans to connect Cushing to a system of pipes that converge south of Chicago.
- In April 2012, Kinder Morgan said it would spend \$4.1 billion to double the capacity of the Trans-Mountain pipeline to Vancouver, the only existing line to Canada's west coast.*
- In July 2012, the National Energy Board approved the reversal of Enbridge's Line 9 from Sarnia to Westover, Ontario. This reversal will make it easier for Western crude to reach refineries in Ontario and eventually Quebec. If the flow of another pipeline is reversed, oil refined in Montreal could be exported through Portland, Maine.**
- TransCanada is actively pursuing an option to convert the Mainline pipeline, which currently carries natural gas from western to eastern Canada, to carry oil.
- * *Economist.* May 26, 2012. "The great pipeline battle: The energy industry and Stephen Harper's government try to ensure tar-sands oil gets to market." *Economist.* http://www.economist.com/node/21555928.
- ** Enbridge Press Release, July 2012. http://www.enbridge.com/Line9ReversalProject/ProjectOverview.aspx.

Coast.³⁶ Canadian National Railway (CN) joined the race to supply oil to Asian markets in early 2009 but their "pipeline on rails" idea has really gained momentum in the past year.³⁷ Given its continental rail network, oil from Alberta can be transported from Fort McMurray to marine terminals in Vancouver, Kitimat, and Prince Rupert, as well as to refineries in the southern US and US Gulf Coast. CN operates in 8 provinces and 16 US states. CN already transports diluents, liquid petroleum gases (LPG), coal, diesel, sulphur, and petroleum coke to the west coast and various other parts of North America. The company suggests that it can transport 200,000 billion barrels per day or more oil to market.

Rail transportation has the advantage of significant infrastructure already in place but it is more expensive, with cost estimates running at \$2 to \$5 more per barrel by rail than by pipeline.³⁸

Pipelines are the most efficient means of shipping crude oil and natural gas.

REFINING INFRASTRUCTURE

Bitumen from the oil sands is a tricky substance. Before it can be transported in a pipeline, it must be either diluted with a light viscosity substance (which transforms it into 'dilbit') or upgraded to a product called synthetic crude oil (SCO), which can then be further refined into fuels we all use such as gasoline, jet fuel, and diesel. Currently, about 56 percent of bitumen is upgraded in Alberta.³⁹

Upgraders and refineries are designed for the kind of oil products they refine, and there are very few countries that have the capacity to upgrade bitumen and transform it into transportation fuel. In the US, many of these refineries are located in the Gulf Coast and the Midwest, where the majority of Canadian dilbit and SCO is shipped. Although Alberta aims to boost the current amount of bitumen processed in the province to two thirds, the Energy Resources Conservation Board predicts that only 47 percent of Alberta's bitumen will be processed locally by 2020. Plans to expand bitumen extraction simply outstrip plans to expand domestic upgrading capacity.

Outside of the US, China has limited capacity to refine bitumen, but it is working to build the facilities required to do so. Xingyi Wang, vice president of China National Petroleum Corp. America Ltd., commented in July 2012 that China plans to develop coking⁴⁰ refineries to process greater amounts of heavy crude oil, but will do so gradually by upgrades to existing facilities. Currently, only 15 percent of Chinese refineries have coking capacity, most of which is dedicated to metallurgical coke production.⁴¹ Meanwhile, in Jamnagar, India, Reliance Industries is expanding their current refinery operations to create what will be the world's largest refinery with the capacity to process cheaper, heavy crudes into high value products.⁴²

China and India are increasing their capacity to refine bitumen.

The ongoing debate in Canada over whether or not to expand domestic upgrading and refining capacity highlights some important implications for Canada's ability to compete in global markets. The concentration of capacity to refine bitumen in the US is one cause of the monopsony structure of the oil sands industry. Refining bitumen and heavy oil transforms a cheaper form of oil into a more valuable product for immediate use. Proponents of expanding domestic refining capacity assert that more capacity will allow Canadian companies to sell higher value products in global markets, and receive a higher price for their product. Diversification of Canada's exports will make us less reliant on base commodity prices and thus less vulnerable to market fluctuations. Refining at home will also allow Canadian producers to ship to a larger consumer base, and alleviate the risks of depending on a single buyer.

The flip side of that argument is that in order to process more bitumen at home, Canadian refineries would have to invest billions of dollars in the necessary infrastructure.⁴³ In North America, increased fuel efficiency and changing consumer preferences have reduced the demand for refined products, leaving the refining industry in parts of the US and Canada with excess capacity.⁴⁴ This trend is likely to continue. On the Gulf Coast, there is excess capacity to process heavy crudes because imports of heavy crude from Mexico and Venezuela are declining. It is difficult to justify high capital investment in Canada's refining sector when existing North American refineries are not operating at full capacity.⁴⁵

Industry is unlikely to make the investment to build new refineries in Canada under current economic circumstances. These investments would likely require public funding. Whether Canada will choose to pay this premium in order to become more selfsufficient by controlling processing at home, or respond to economic logic and continue to refine in US facilities at lower costs is an important question. (The answer is linked to whether we think of the energy sector in terms of a Canadian or a North American one.)

Our policy solutions are tied to whether we think of the energy sector as a Canadian or a North American one.

The North American refining industry is also under threat from expanded refining capacity in emerging economies. The Conference Board of Canada reports "the majority of incremental refining capacity is being added where demand growth is expected to be strongest going forward – Asia".⁴⁶ Countries such as China and India have the large domestic markets that allow them to build projects of a scale that is simply not possible for Canadian refiners. Canada's largest refinery, for example, has less than half the annual processing capacity of the planned Sinopec refining complex in the Chinese province of Jiangsu.⁴⁷ Most of the supply for these projects will come from North American crude production (a boon to upstream producers). However, China's relatively lower wages and lower, scale related operating costs will pose serious competition to Canada's refining sector. A refinery in BC has already experienced the effects of competing with Asian mega-refineries.⁴⁸

Canada faces trade offs whether we choose to refine oil sands products domestically or send them abroad. By refining at home, we increase our potential consumer base and reduce dependence on the US (and vulnerability to US political decisions), but not without huge capital investment. By sending bitumen abroad to be refined, we avoid the financial costs and uncertainty associated with expanding Canadian refining capacity, but we remain limited to exporting to a few markets. Ultimately, these decisions must be made in the interest of our ability to compete in an increasingly competitive global market.

Regulatory Challenges

Simply building new pipelines is not as easy as it sounds. For example, the proposed Keystone

THE MACKENZIE VALLEY PIPELINE SAGA

XL pipeline is intended to provide more efficient transportation to the US south, but the regulatory environment in the US may prevent this expansion. The Keystone XL permitting process is now in its fourth year with no end in sight. This is relatively short compared to the Mackenzie Valley pipeline process, which is approaching its 40th year. (For more information on the Mackenzie Valley pipeline, see sidebar.)

Regulatory inefficiency is a major impediment to investment and growth.

Regulatory inefficiency is a major impediment to investment and growth. The costs and uncertain timelines associated with the review process pose significant risks to project proponents, which can cause them to reconsider their plans to proceed with a project, or not to invest at all. At the same time, the government has a mandate to protect the public interest, and ensure that the social and environmental externalities of major projects are properly addressed.⁴⁹ This is complicated by the fact that major energy projects fall within areas of both federal and provincial jurisdiction (see earlier sidebar on responsibility for energy and environment matters in Canada), can require approvals

The time horizon on major infrastructure investments deters much needed investment in Canada's strategic sectors. Proposed in the 1970s as the key to northern development, the Mackenzie Valley gas pipeline was nearly abandoned by investors as a result of its epic 38 year review process.



FIGURE 7 Major projects regulation: federal departments and selected legislation



Source: Natural Resources Canada

from several government departments and agencies,⁵⁰ and touch on issues ranging from environmental safety to public interest to Aboriginal rights and land and water use (see figure 7).

The process can be convoluted and expensive, creating negative economic consequences for resource development in Canada.

The challenge for government is to create a mechanism to deal with the major and cross-cutting issues that pertain to resource development, while ensuring that the process includes appropriate mechanisms that take into account the considerations of affected stakeholders, including those at the local level. The greatest challenge is to ensure that all of this can be achieved within reasonable cost and time parameters.

The federal government has seemingly recognized that changes to the regulatory regime are important for reducing uncertainty and increasing transparency, thereby allowing project proponents to better plan their investment and operation decisions. Changes made to the regulatory process over the past several years have been aimed at improving coordination and reducing the time required to review a major project. The Major Project Management Office (MPMO) was created in 2007 to address the challenge of coordination. Under the direction of the Department of Natural Resources, the MPMO has a broad mandate to coordinate all aspects of federal regulation of major projects. It acts as the single point of entry for applicants seeking project approval from the federal government. Industry has been generally favourable in their initial assessments of the MPMO.⁵¹

In March 2012, the federal government announced major changes to its approach to environmental reviews in order to create a "one project, one review" process to cut down on wait times for major economic projects (see appendix 2). The implementing legislation, Bill C-38, came into force in July 2012. Industry associations have endorsed these reforms but continue to call for greater coordination between federal and provincial regulators.⁵²

Improving the efficacy of the public consultation process is part of improving the regulatory process overall. As it stands, there are few guidelines as to the content covered in a particular review; topics listed can be quite broad, thus leaving the door open to broad interpretation by participants. Lack of specificity is a major contributor to 'scope creep,' the unplanned expansion of an initiative.

In order to fulfill their mandate of regulating in the public interest, regulators often choose to hold public hearings to allow a variety of stakeholders to put forth their concerns with a particular project. However, there is significant ambiguity and breadth in the interpretation of public interest, which can compromise the scope of an environmental assessment. For example, the regulation of greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions, though pivotal to improving the regulatory system overall, cannot be dealt with properly within a single project review, and fixating on the issue could affect the quality and efficiency of the process by burdening regulators with consideration of issues over which they have no authority.

Companies need social buy-in for projects to succeed.

One way to improve consultative efficiency is to provide separate forums for different kinds of stakeholders to make their views known on the broader issues affecting resource development. In the GHG example, a National Energy Board panel may hear from a group on Canada's broad environmental policy despite the fact that those issues cannot be properly addressed in that forum. Yet many stakeholders feel that it is an opportunity to raise their concerns. By shifting more of the substance of environmental policy making away from the approval/project evaluation process and into another forum, we may be able to improve efficiency and quality of the project evaluation.

Shifting large numbers of stakeholders to alternate venues could be viewed simply as window dressing for meaningful consultation and a way to marginalize the voices of those who oppose energy megaprojects. However, industry seems to be learning a lesson from TransCanada's experience with the permitting process for the Keystone XL pipeline. The public is watching. Companies are increasingly recognizing that social – especially local – buy-in is tied to a project's long term commercial viability, legal exposure, and investor relations. In pursuit of what is being called a social license,⁵³ firms are becoming proactive in promoting the benefits of a regulatory system that addresses the safety, health, and environmental concerns of all stakeholders. Enbridge's proposal to spend up to \$500 million to change the design of its Northern Gateway pipeline in a bid to address safety concerns of Aboriginal people and other stakeholders may be indicative of a growing trend by companies to garner public support by going beyond the letter of the law.⁵⁴

Uneven or Inadequate Aboriginal Consultation

The federal and provincial governments have a duty to consult Aboriginal groups and provide accommodations, in some cases, when the Crown is considering an action that might adversely impact potential or established Aboriginal or Treaty rights. The Supreme Court of Canada confirmed these rights in the Haida and Taku River decisions in 2004, and the Mikisew Cree decision in 2005, but the mechanisms through which the Crown exercises its duty to consult are still evolving. The law dictates that the consultation process must be 'meaningful', but there has been little definition of what constitutes meaningful consultation.

Lack of clarity frustrates the consultation process.

The courts have made it clear that government cannot offload the duty to consult to a third party. They may delegate procedural aspects to project proponents, but the ultimate legal responsibility rests with the government. The government is also responsible for any accommodations that are necessary to offset infringement of rights. Accommodations can include adjusting a project to minimize disruption or compensation payments for loss of rights to traditional use of lands and resources.⁵⁵ The goal of the consultation process is to reach a compromise, but government does not have to accommodate Aboriginal people when their rights are infringed, except in cases where the claim is strong and infringement is substantial.⁵⁶

In practice, there is a lack of clarity on who is consulting, how much consultation is required, and when this requirement has been satisfied. This lack of clarity has led to frustration on the part of both companies and Aboriginal groups, in some cases delaying projects that are in the interest of both groups.⁵⁷

Several factors add to the difficulties of achieving meaningful consultations.

- Lack of capacity to participate First Nations groups can find themselves having to negotiate with multiple companies and with entities that have far more resources and capacity. In some instances, governments will provide funding for First Nations to help them to participate, but this is not always the case. Related to this is the sheer volume of consultations. Businesses must await the completion of Crown consultations with First Nations before development applications can be approved. The BC government estimates that there are some 200,000 decisions every year that require First Nations consultations in that province alone.⁵⁸
- Unsettled land claims create uncertainty regarding the duty to consult and who might be entitled to accommodation. This can lead to conflict between First Nations, governments, and project proponents, since the government can grant a proponent legal access to property despite Aboriginal opposition.⁵⁹
- Lack of protocol Currently, there is no clear process, formula, or set of guidelines for companies to follow when they are carrying out consultations. To counter this, companies and industry associations are adopting voluntary codes of conduct for managing First Nations consultations.

Companies have a vested interest in getting the consultation process right since their project may be at risk if a court later determines that consultation was inadequate. There are several examples, such as the case of Solid Gold Resources and the Wahgoshig First Nation in Northern Ontario, where companies did not consult adequately with Aboriginal communities, resulting in project delays or termination, and costing all parties millions in legal fees.⁶⁰

By consulting with First Nations early on, companies can help build good relationships, share necessary information, and reduce the risk of future legal challenges. An increasing number of companies and industry associations are taking proactive measures to establish programs and protocols for their relations with Aboriginal groups.⁶¹

Shortage of Skilled Labour

A shortage of workers with relevant skills is jeopardizing the viability of Canada's energy sector. More than 70 percent of oil sands companies surveyed in late 2011 indicated that labour and skills shortages were their top workforce challenges. The trend is projected to continue, with the greatest labour shortages expected from 2013 to 2015.⁶²

According to the Petroleum Human Resources Council, over 30 percent of the oil and gas industry's core workforce is expected to retire within the next decade, driving the need to hire at least 39,000 workers. If the industry expands at projected rates, a staggering 130,000 workers will be needed to fill new positions and keep pace with retirements. Loss of workers to competing industries is a challenge that the industry needs to manage as well.⁶³

A shortage of skilled workers is jeopardizing the viability of Canada's energy sector.

Alberta Premier Alison Redford sounded the alarm on the skills shortage during meetings with Chicago's union leaders in February 2012, outlining Alberta's labour market needs over the coming decade and the potential role of temporary foreign workers.⁶⁴ Although reliance on temporary workers can address temporary shortfalls, it does not address the main problem of disparity between the skills and experience of the available labour supply and those that are needed by the industry to accommodate growth and replace retiring workers. This has serious implications for production capacity and labour productivity. Without the workers, the show cannot go on.

Canada has had forward leaning policies for foreign skilled workers, but these have been challenged by administrative backlogs. In Budget 2012, the federal government proposed reforms to the Federal Skilled Worker Program that should improve the process for recognition of foreign credentials and reduce waiting times for labour market approvals in high demand occupations.⁶⁵

Worker mobility is a double edged sword for Canada. On one hand, improvements to immigration and temporary worker programs are making it easier to manage the technical and legal complexities of foreign recruitment. On the other, ease of mobility increases the prospects of an exodus of workers from Canada (foreign and domestic) when better opportunities appear. For example, a large Australian company, Santos Ltd, is recruiting Canadian geoscientists, geophysicists, reservoir engineers, and completions specialists for an LNG project, in part for their experience, but also to help offset Australia's personnel losses to competing jurisdictions.⁶⁶

Canada's workforce is aging, and the pool of foreign workers is shrinking because developing countries are now able to offer better employment opportunities that keep workers at home. The challenge for Canada is how to build skills in the domestic workforce and create incentives to lure them to the oil patch.

The Aboriginal population is one of the fastest growing populations in Canada, yet it is also experiencing the highest rates of unemployment. Over the next decade, 400,000 Aboriginal Canadians will reach working age.⁶⁷ A July 2012 report by the Conference Board of Canada argues that Canada must work harder to create skills training and educational opportunities for this demographic.⁶⁸ Effective integration of Aboriginal workers into the energy sector will not be easy. Obstacles include concentration of Aboriginal populations in remote rural areas (affecting access to training and labour market opportunities), lower levels of educational opportunities and levels of educational attainment (34 percent of the Aboriginal population does not finish high school), and language and cultural issues (including racism and social exclusion).⁶⁹

Trade and Investment Rules

The framework of international trade and investment rules has important implications for Canada's energy competitiveness but energy commitments are notoriously under developed in trade agreements. Energy products are different from other cross-border tradeables. Most move without any tariffs at all. The challenge is with non-tariff barriers such as technical barriers to trade (TBT), rules of origin, and trade related environmental measures. Competitiveness is also lost when firms cannot move technicians, service personnel, and equipment easily across borders.

Energy commitments are underrepresented in trade and investment agreements.

Energy commitments are similarly underrepresented in investment agreements and offer little guidance for dealing with investment by the state owned enterprises that are now the most powerful new actors in the energy sector.

Trade agreements can be a positive force in reducing costs and increasing efficiency in cross-border movement of goods, services, and labour. The New West Partnership Free Trade Agreement⁷⁰ – a provincial initiative among the three western provinces – set out to eliminate barriers to provincial trade but it has been slow to deliver. Nevertheless, by the time it is fully implemented in 2013, the integrated western market will be able to operate much more efficiently, making cross-border trade easier and increasing the region's attractiveness to foreign investors.⁷¹

Canada has a long list of international agreements through which we assert our trade interests. The most important of these is the North American Free Trade Agreement because the US is our largest trading partner in all products including energy. Since NAFTA was signed, however, there have been significant changes in the North American energy market, including rising demand for Canadian oil sands products, US export capacity in natural gas and LNG, and Mexico's rise as a global energy producer. A 21st century North American Free Trade Agreement would contain a separate energy chapter to help manage the integrated elements of our energy economy.

The TPP creates opportunities for access to new markets and improved energy relationships.

Looking ahead, the Trans-Pacific Partnership agreement that Canada is currently negotiating⁷² provides the opportunity to negotiate new market access arrangements with Asian countries, and also to revisit our energy relationships with the US and Mexico. The TPP is a forward leaning agreement that seeks to deepen its coverage of issues relevant to the 21st century economy such as services, technical barriers, labour mobility, and government procurement. There is also the possibility to expand the agreement to include other large Asian energy importers, such as Japan, South Korea, and maybe even China.⁷³ As such, it provides Canadian producers with the potential for preferential access to huge populations where domestic consumption of energy is forecasted to grow significantly over the foreseeable future.

TRADE RELATED ENVIRONMENTAL MEASURES

The nexus between trade and environmental rules is an area of concern for energy exporters. There is a visible trend towards holding governments and industry accountable for the externalities created by resource development. This has a strong potential to translate into market access rules that are conditioned on environmental processes used in extracting or producing resources. These potential trade barriers could become a threat to market access for Canadian oil sands products, especially in the European Union (EU) and the US. During the early days of the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade (GATT),⁷⁴ energy products were excluded by tacit agreement because the framers did not want to deal with the level of politicization that regulation of a 'strategic resource' would involve. Moreover, petroleum exporters believed they had little to gain from FTAs because they export a high demand product for which market access is not an issue.⁷⁵

The Uruguay Round establishing the World Trade Organization (WTO) brought energy in through the side door through measures limiting the ability to subsidize domestic use of energy products. The late 1990s and early 2000s were also a period of rising debate on the use of the GATT Article XX exceptions which allow a country to restrict imports (and, by some interpretations, exports) in order to conserve an exhaustible natural resource and/or to protect human, plant, and animal life.

The use of these exceptions is limited by the conditions that the measures should be applied in a non-discriminatory manner (apply equally to foreign and domestic producers) and they should be applied in conjunction with domestic conservation measures.

It is possible that Canadian oil sands products could be the target of trade restrictions on the basis of GHG emissions during processing.

The GATT/WTO framers intended that the use of exceptions should be justified by the characteristics of the product itself, so that the product or its components would contain some element that is endangered, exhaustible, or injurious to human, plant, or animal health. Increasingly, however, environmental advocates are pushing to have process standards added to the test so that an import could be banned if a given method of production caused (or could cause) environmental harm. This reasoning was upheld by the WTO Appellate Body in the

21

Shrimp/Turtle case, which ruled that the US could apply an embargo on imports of shrimp from countries that did not prevent the accidental capture of sea turtles during shrimp fishing.⁷⁶

Binding precedent does not exist in the international rules based trade regime (WTO). Since the law has been interpreted to allow restrictions of imports based on process and production methods, however, it is possible that Canadian oil sands products could be the target of trade restrictions on the basis of GHG emissions during processing.⁷⁷ Whether or not such regulations would be admissible depends on their structure and application, as well as how the law is interpreted by the WTO.

Both the US and the EU have made attempts to restrict imports of certain heavy fuels (mainly bitumen). Measures such as the EU Fuel Quality Directive or the American Clean Energy and Security Act (2009) have the potential to harm Canadian exports in many ways.⁷⁸ First, they can restrict access for Canadian products into important export markets. Second, other governments may propose similar regulations in order to align themselves with dominant global policy makers. Third, the mere proposal of these regulations can damage the reputations of the government and the country's industry, which could lead to backlash from civil society groups, consumers, and even other industries.

Managing the GHG intensity of oil sands development is a proactive step.

Regulations that single out oil sands products on the basis of their GHG emissions during processing may or may not hold up in front of a trade tribunal, but they certainly make an impact in the court of public opinion. In the case of the Fuel Quality Directive (FQD), the regulations as they are structured discriminate specifically against bitumen from oil sands without taking into consideration that many heavy crude oils are similarly GHG intense.⁷⁹ Bitumen from oil sands fits into a spectrum of fossil fuel products, some of which use comparable processes in extraction and production. That the FQD is structured in a discriminatory manner will likely be its demise in the event of a trade dispute. Nevertheless, the mischaracterization of Canada's oil sands products as being more GHG intense than other fuels has impacted public perception of the industry and government. The real economic threat to Canada's industry is implementation of GHG regulation that is applied uniformly to like products. In order for Canadian industry to remain competitive when measured against a GHG yardstick, it is essential for Canadian producers to

CAMPAIGNS, CORPORATIONS, AND CANADA'S OIL SANDS

- In 2010, Forest Ethics, a North American environmental NGO, launched an anti-oil sands campaign urging US companies to avoid using energy from Alberta's oil sands in their transportation supply chains.* To date, 16 American companies have signed on, including Walgreens, Chiquita,** and Whole Foods.
- Forest Ethics is not the first organization to launch this kind of campaign. In the same year, Corporate Ethics International started the "Re-think Alberta" campaign in North America and the United Kingdom, to discourage tourism to Alberta so long as the province develops its "dirty oil".
- Although these campaigns may have little overall effect on refinery and industry demand for oil sands product, they can mobilize constituencies in the US that in turn, put pressure on politicians to create laws and regulations that discriminate against the importation of Canadian oil sands products. If enacted, such laws and regulations would have serious economic implications for the oil sands industry, particularly should such regulation occur in the market of our largest consumer.
- * Forest Ethics, http://www.forestethics.org/majorcompanies-act-to-clean-up-their-transportationfootprints.
- ** Chiquita has since clarified its position that it will not discriminate against Canadian oil. See: Alberta Enterprise Group, December 2011 letter from Chiquita Brands International at http:// albertaenterprisegroup.com/MR%20-%20AEG%20 Dec%202011.pdf.

demonstrate meaningful progress on managing the GHG intensity of oil sands development.

Developing countries such as China are similarly concerned that environmental fears will be used to restrict trade. Thus, it is in China's interest to develop "green" and safe approaches, whether via voluntary certification programs such as those of the Forest Stewardship Council, or strict adherence to the Food and Agriculture Organization's Codex Alimentarius. In the wake of a series of scandals involving lead in painted toys, melamine contamination, and other problems such as antibiotic residues in aquacultured fish, China has tightened its health and safety regulatory framework, but consumer confidence will need to be rebuilt, likely both domestically and abroad. Arthur Hanson argues that China is aware of the potential for health and safety barriers related to energy, and is taking steps to avoid being the target of these trade barriers.80

Economic policy that contributes to environmental sustainability is becoming pivotal to the ability of a nation's producers to compete in global markets but we must ensure that environmental concerns do not provoke discriminatory trade measures and that states adopt the least trade restrictive regulations to achieve a public policy objective.

INVESTMENT

Competitiveness in global energy markets is not limited to market access for Canadian products. Openness to foreign investment is an important component of a competitive market environment, as is access to other markets for Canadian investors.

As far as Canada's outbound investment is concerned, we need to access markets where Canadian energy firms have a comparative advantage and, once invested, we need guaranteed protections under the law against expropriation and discriminatory treatment. Canada's ever growing network of Foreign Investment Protection Agreements is helping to fulfill market access goals while investors are protected against unfair treatment by the investor-state dispute settlement provisions that are becoming more prevalent in trade agreements. Inbound investment is more problematic. For the most part, Canada's concerns about state owned enterprises are focused on Chinese investment in the extractive sector. China's Sinopec owns nearly 10 percent of Syncrude, one of Canada's largest joint ventures in the oil sands. Recent Chinese acquisitions include Petrochina's purchase of the MacKay River Project from Athabasca Oil Sands Corp., Sinopec's acquisition of Calgary based Daylight Energy Ltd, CNOOC's acquisition of the oil sands technology company OPTI as well as their bid for Nexen.

Chinese investment in Canadian oil sands has yet to be tested by a major dispute.

Since all (except Nexen) have passed the federal net benefits test, including the additional competitiveness considerations for state owned enterprises and the general screening on national security, it seems likely that Chinese investment applications in Canada will continue to be approved. To date, however, none of these acquisitions have been tested by a major dispute similar to Canada's 2009 lawsuit against US Steel, or Abitibi Bowater's 2008 complaint against Newfoundland for the expropriation of its hydroelectric assets.⁸¹

Royalties and Provincial Cooperation in Energy

The provinces have ownership of natural resources in Canada; as such, the collection of resource royalties falls under provincial jurisdiction. In addition to royalties, the provinces receive bonus bids from the successful auction of mineral leases, rentals and fees associated with the leases, and municipal and corporate income taxes from energy development. Royalty and tax rates vary depending on the province. In Alberta, for example, the gross revenue royalty rate for oil sands projects is indexed to the Canadian dollar price of West Texas Intermediate (WTI). The rate is 1 percent of gross revenue where that price is less than or equal to \$55 per barrel and increases to a maximum of 9 percent when the WTI price reaches \$120 per barrel.

The revenue that accrues to provinces from resource development is a significant part of overall government revenue. Bitumen royalties accounted for 10 percent of total Alberta government revenues in 2010-2011, and that is expected to climb to approximately 20 percent of total government revenues, or \$9.9 billion dollars by 2014-2015.⁸² A 2012 report from the Canadian Energy Research Institute predicts that the royalties Alberta collects from the oil sands will double within four years, to \$10 billion per year, reaching \$30 billion in 2024 and \$52 billion in 2040.⁸³

Despite demands from the premier that BC get its "fair share" of revenues from Alberta if it allows the Northern Gateway pipeline to proceed to the Pacific, there is no precedent for sharing resource related revenues between provinces. Instead, collaboration between provinces on energy issues is voluntary, and usually involves agreements to share information or invest in research.⁸⁴

Currently, the way provinces share revenue with one another is through the federal equalization program. Although this is an indirect mechanism for revenue redistribution, it is aimed at addressing the fiscal disparities between provinces. Revenue is transferred from provinces with greater fiscal capacity to those with less fiscal capacity.

In 2010, British Columbia, Alberta, and Saskatchewan signed a Memorandum of Understanding for Collaboration on Energy Initiatives, under the New West Partnership. The MOU includes commitments to exchange information on regulatory streamlining; promote energy technology development; promote energy infrastructure of mutual interest; and coordinate on strategies for increased market access and market diversification of energy goods. However, it is a voluntary agreement that does not create any legally binding obligations.

Conclusion

here are a number of actions Canada must take today in order to position itself for competitiveness in the global oil and gas sector tomorrow.

Distribution is the top priority so that Canadian energy products can get to new markets more efficiently. Finding environmentally responsible and efficient ways to transport energy products is a lynchpin in our future success as a global energy leader. As well, though improving access to refineries in the US Gulf Coast and possibly eastern Canada makes more economic sense than building new capacity in Canada, it is important for governments, industry, and the public to carefully consider the spectrum of benefits and costs of establishing a more self-sufficient energy sector.

The first step towards creating a competitive Canadian energy sector is developing distribution channels.

Continued streamlining of the regulatory process goes hand in hand with the expansion of distribution capacity. However, progress depends on an approach by business and government that balances economic efficiencies with environmental sustainability and First Nations rights. The government's recent reform of the regulatory process may very well improve the efficiency of project approvals in Canada. Time will tell. Working towards a First Nations consultative process where roles and responsibilities are more clearly defined will help reduce uncertainty and the potential for legal challenges.

Canada must work harder to build the skills that are needed in the energy sector. Some of the workforce shortage can be filled through temporary and permanent migration, but education and social policy must be focused on building a skilled domestic labour pool as well. Here, Canada has an opportunity to mobilize underemployed segments of the population, particularly First Nations, and provide them with the training needed to participate in the energy sector workforce.

Externally, our formal trade and investment agreements must reflect the priorities of national energy competitiveness and create a level playing field in order for Canada's industry to grow in global markets.

Does Canada need a comprehensive national energy strategy? We argue that the answer is no. The energy sector across Canada is so diverse that progress in any one subsector would be very difficult with provincial premiers vying to promote their regional interests. The Council of the Federation already has a well established mechanism to foster and promote interprovincial dialogue. Reinventing this in a separate sphere would serve no purpose. Moreover, Canada's comprehensive consultative mechanism allows many opportunities for input from business and civil society stakeholders. To be sure, existing policies and programs are not complete. More can be done to address environmental, regulatory, labour, and distribution challenges. However, existing mechanisms and institutions have the capacity and authority to deal with the competitiveness challenges facing Canada in all areas but one. It is clear that provincial disputes over allocation of resource revenues are going to continue to flare up as the sector grows, and as infrastructure and risk cross provincial boundaries. The existing system of equalization payments will not be enough to address the grievances of provinces that believe that bearing a greater share of the environmental risk imposed by new pipelines and infrastructure entitles them to a greater share of financial compensation. The opportunity cost for Alberta is significant. Growth and production of the oil and gas sector, and thus the prosperity of the province, depend on the ability to export these products to new markets. This in turn may require new mechanisms of cooperation between provinces. Certainly, the current issues between Alberta and British Columbia will not be the last. The steps we take today will enable us to deal with similar challenges in the future, so that provincial disputes do not become obstacles to competitiveness.

Re-thinking mechanisms for provincial cooperation will enhance future competitiveness.

Various government policies and programs are already addressing some of the challenges facing Canada's energy sector. The federal government and province of Alberta have implemented the Joint Canada-Alberta Implementation Plan for Oil Sands Monitoring, which aims to improve the quality and frequency of monitoring the environmental impacts of oil sands development. Similarly, the Department of Citizenship and Immigration and the Alberta government have recently expanded a temporary foreign worker pilot project, established under the Agreement for Canada-Alberta Cooperation on Immigration, to address immediate labour shortages in the oil and gas sector. As well, changes made in Budget 2012 seek to improve the efficiency and clarity of the regulatory approvals process for major projects.

25

Appendix 1: The Economics of Petroleum Upgrading and Refining in Canada

anada's oil economy has long been a dual market. Refineries in Western Canada run domestically produced crude oil, refineries in Quebec and the eastern provinces run primarily imported crude oil, while refineries in Ontario run a mix of both imported and domestically produced crude oil. In fact, crude oil imports satisfy more than half of domestic refinery demand.⁸⁵ Sources of imported crude include Algeria, the United Kingdom, Nigeria, Norway, and Saudi Arabia. Regardless of the source, the price is determined according to the supply/demand balance and pricing dynamics on the world oil market. In this respect, Canadian refiners are "price takers" and have very little influence on the price they pay for crude oil.

Many Canadians are puzzled by our lack of domestic energy self-sufficiency (we export oil to other countries while much of Atlantic and Eastern Canada rely on oil imports). For many years, shipping oil east across Canada and into the eastern US was not a viable economic option for many western producers. Transportation costs were high, and companies could realize greater profits by shipping south from Western Canada. However, due to price discounts for Canadian oil in the US Midwest, producers may now be able to fetch a higher price for their products in Eastern and Atlantic Canada. In order to facilitate producer interest in shipping more oil to Eastern and Atlantic Canada, Enbridge has proposed to reverse the flow in its Line 9 pipeline, which currently flows east-west, in order to serve Eastern Canadian markets. TransCanada, as well, is currently in the conceptual stages of their East Coast Pipeline Project, which would transport oil to Montreal and possibly even further east, to Saint John, NB.⁸⁶

Oil is differentiated by its density and sulfur content. Heavy crude requires more processing to transform into gasoline, and it yields lower valued byproducts such as heavy fuel oil and asphalt. Light oil is more valuable to refiners than heavy oil, since it requires less processing in order to produce a higher yield of petrol (gasoline). Light oil is also lower in sulfur (sweet) than many heavy, high sulfur (sour) crudes, and thus can more easily meet the low sulfur standards imposed on all refined products.⁸⁷ In short, there is a spectrum of petroleum products differentiated based on the cost and time it takes to transform raw products into refined products.

Currently, there are 19 refineries in Canada. Most refineries in Western Canada and Ontario were designed to process the light sweet oil that, for quite some time, was the primary type of oil produced in Western Canada. In these regions, almost 50 percent of the oil processed by refiners is conventional light, sweet oil and another 25 percent is high quality synthetic crude oil, derived from the oil sands. Most of the remaining oil processed by these refineries is heavy, sour crude. Unlike leading refineries in the US, Canadian refineries in these regions have been slower to reconfigure their operations to process lower cost, less desirable oils, instead choosing to rely extensively on abundant, domestically produced, light, sweet oil. The relative decline in supply of light, sweet crude compared with the vast increases in production of bitumen means that refiners may have to increase their capacity to process heavy crude oil and synthetic crudes; however, new investment in refining capacity carries considerable risk, depending on who else is developing this capacity and what markets Canada needs to service.⁸⁸

Upgrading Bitumen

Some integrated oil companies (Suncor, Shell) have the capacity to upgrade bitumen to synthetic crude oil (SCO). This SCO can then be further refined into fuel, a process that takes place largely in the US Mid-

west. US refiners are also capable of upgrading and refining dilbit, which is bitumen mixed with a diluting substance such as butane (undiluted bitumen is too dense and viscous to be transported in a pipeline).

Economic Rationale

The economics of upgrading and refining (U&R) boil down to the spread between the costs and the expected revenue. Costs of U&R include those associated with building (materials, labour, technology) and operating a plant (input costs and labour, keeping in mind that wages are relatively higher in Canada than in some other countries where U&R takes place).

Thus, if producers expect a significant positive spread between cost and expected revenue over time, they will build and operate refineries. In Canada, however, this has not happened, largely because there is so much excess capacity in the US, and the spread has not been wide enough to make it profitable for companies to invest in building new refineries (which require an initial capital outlay of more than \$10 billion).⁸⁹

The refining business is also considered to be more risky than upstream oil production, because profitability is directly affected by fluctuations in global prices and demand for refined products such as gasoline.⁹⁰

As long as Canada is able to access other markets (particularly the US) that can upgrade oil sands product, there is little economic incentive to build more upgraders and refineries in Canada. The first priority will be to expand and rationalize distribution in order to clear out the surplus in the US Midwest.

Appendix 2: Budget 2012 and the Shift Towards "One Project, One Review"

udget 2012, and its ensuing implementation Bill C-38, included sweeping reforms to the regulation of major projects in Canada.

The changes to the regulatory regime came into force in July, following the passage of Bill C-38 in the legislature. These new changes have received positive responses from industry associations,⁹¹ who continue to call for greater coordination between federal and provincial regulators.

Making the review process for major projects more timely and predictable	0	\$54 million over two years to renew MPMO
	0	Deadlines for reviews (24 months for panel reviews, 18 months for NEB hearings, 12 months for standard environment assessments)
Reducing duplication and regulatory burdens	0	Allows provincial environmental assessments to be substituted for federal assessments
Strengthening environmental protection	0	Enhancing inspection and safe navigation of oil tankers
	0	Strengthening pipeline safety
	0	Penalties for proponents of major projects who do not comply with conditions set out in the decision statements. The proposed penalties could range from \$100,000 to \$400,000
Enhancing consultation with Aboriginal peoples	0	\$13.6 million over two years to provide funding for Aboriginal groups to participate in public hearings, support Aboriginal consultation

About the Authors



Laura Dawson is the President of Dawson Strategic and provides advice to business on cross-border trade, market access and regulatory issues. Previously, she served as senior advisor on U.S.-Canada economic affairs at the United States Embassy in Ottawa. As a specialist in U.S.-Canada economic relations, Dawson contributed to the launch of the U.S.-Canada Regulatory Cooperation Council, the Border Vision Strategy, and the bilateral Government Procurement Agreement. From September to December 2011, she was a Public Policy Scholar at the Woodrow Wilson International Center for Scholars in Washington, DC researching policy options to rebuild North American competitiveness.

She has conducted research for clients and scholarly publications in investor-state dispute settlement, cross-border labor mobility, government procurement, technical barriers, energy, telecommunications, financial services, softwood lumber, foreign investment review and corporate-social responsibility in the extractive sector.

From 1998 to 2008, she was a senior associate at the Centre for Trade Policy and Law advising governments in developing and transition economies on trade and investment issues. Dawson taught international trade, Canada-U.S. relations and policy analysis at the Norman Paterson School of International Affairs and holds a PhD in political science.



Stefania Bartucci, Research Director at Dawson Strategic, has strong knowledge of international economics and the international trading system. She has produced practical, businessfocused analysis of trade, market access and regulatory issues for public and private sector audiences and is a subject matter specialist in borders, infrastructure and transportation, energy and government procurement. Ms. Bartucci has held previous positions with research institutions, government relations companies and political organizations. Ms. Bartucci holds an MA in International Affairs from the Norman Paterson School of International Affairs (specialization in trade policy) and an Honours BA in Economics and Political Science from the University of Toronto.

Endnotes

- 1 US Energy Information Administration, Annual Energy Outlook 2012.
- 2 Premier Alison Redford. November 2011. *Speech to the Economic Club of Canada*. Accessed at http://alberta. ca/albertacode/images/EconomicClubSpeech-16Nov11.pdf.
- 3 Laura Ritchie Dawson. 2005. "Nationalism versus Interdependence in the Evolution of Canada's Post-War Investment Policies." *Centre for Trade Policy and Law*, March, 17-18.
- 4 Council of the Federation. 2007. *A Shared Vision for Energy in Canada*. Accessed August 2012 at http://www. councilofthefederation.ca/pdfs/energystrategy_EN.pdf.
- 5 James Wood. January 6, 2012. "Harper unclear on Redford's energy plan." *Edmonton Journal*. http://www2. canada.com/edmontonjournal/news/story.html?id=5ced4d1e-17a5-4f2a-b166-a208fbff96c4.
- 6 Max Paris. September 11, 2012. "No need for National Energy Strategy, Oliver says." *CBC News*. http://www. cbc.ca/news/business/story/2012/09/11/pol-oliver-national-energy-strategy.html.
- 7 The best example has been the Conservatives' approach to health care, where the government's approach has been to allocate funding to the provinces and leave it to them to sort out the specifics.
- 8 The Standing Senate Committee on Energy, the Environment and Natural Resources. 2012. *Now or Never: Canada Must Act Urgently to Seize its Place in the New Energy World Order*. Accessed at http://www.parl. gc.ca/Content/SEN/Committee/411/ENEV/DPK-Energy/reports-e.htm.
- 9 See for example, statements from the Canadian Association of Petroleum Producers, 2011, "Canadian energy strategy key to realizing Canada's energy potential." http://www.capp.ca/aboutUs/mediaCentre/NewsReleases/ Pages/Canadianenergystrategy.aspx and Tides Canada, 2012, "Statement of Support." Available at http:// tidescanada.org/wp-content/uploads/Statement_Support_Accord.pdf.
- 10 Clint Davis. July 14, 2011. "A national energy strategy requires Aboriginal involvement." *Financial Post*. http://business.financialpost.com/2011/07/14/a-national-energy-strategy-requiresaboriginal-involvement/ and Canadian Press. July 19, 2012. "Atleo urges premiers, Crown to engage First Nations on national energy strategy." iPolitics. http://www.ipolitics.ca/2012/07/19/ atleo-urges-premiers-crown-to-engage-first-nations-on-national-energy-strategy/.
- 11 Licia Corbella. July 28, 2012. "Redford is so wrong about national energy strategy." *Calgary Herald*. http://www.calgaryherald.com/opinion/editorials/Alison+Redford+wrong+about+national+energy+strategy/7003058/story.html.
- 12 Frontier Centre. July 2012. "Canada does not need a National Energy Strategy." *Frontier Centre Commentary*. http://www.fcpp.org/files/1/12-07-06%20Canada%20Does%20Not%20Need%20a%20National%20Energy%20 Strategy.pdf.
- 13 BC demands vis-à-vis Northern Gateway are: successful completion of environmental review process and National Energy Board approval; world-leading marine oil spill response, prevention, and recovery systems; world-leading practices for land oil spill prevention, response, and recovery systems; legal requirements regarding Aboriginal and treaty rights addressed, and opportunities for First Nations to benefit; fair share of fiscal and economic benefits that reflects level and nature of risk.
- 14 Karen Howlett and Dawn Walton. February 27, 2012. "Redford's energy vision clashes with McGuinty's view of oil sands benefits." *Globe and Mail*. http://www.theglobeandmail.com/news/politics/redfords-energy-vision-clashes-with-mcguintys-view-of-oil-sands-benefits/article550667/.

- 15 CBC News. July 28, 2012. "B.C. premier saves some fighting words for Ottawa." CBC News. http://www.cbc.ca/ news/politics/story/2012/07/28/pol-the-house-halifax-premiers-clark.html.
- 16 The Prisoner's Dilemma is the most famous example of Nash's equilibrium concept, in which each prisoner 'optimally' chooses not to cooperate, even though both prisoners would do better if they both cooperated.
- 17 See, for example: Robert Axelrod. 1984. The Evolution of Cooperation. New York: Basic Books.
- 18 As well, such a multi-sector consideration is beyond the scope of this paper.
- 19 Industry Canada, Trade Data Online (2011 figures).
- 20 Total energy exports include all products under HS 27 classification such as coal, petroleum oils, gases, and electrical energy. Industry Canada, *Trade Data Online (2011 figures)*.
- 21 Most exported coal is metallurgical coal used in steel-making. Industry Canada, *Trade Data Online (2011 figures)*.
- 22 US Energy Information Administration (June 2012). *Annual Energy Outlook 2012*. Accessed August 2012 at < http://www.eia.gov/forecasts/aeo/>
- 23 US Energy Information Administration, Annual Energy Outlook 2012.
- 24 Yadullah Hussain. April 4, 2012. "The coming battle over natural gas." *Financial Post*. http://business. financialpost.com/2012/04/04/natural-gas-battle-set-to-heat-up-between-canada-and-u-s/_
- 25 Hydraulic fracturing (fracking) remains a contentious issue in both Canada and the US. The environmental effects of this technique are not fully known and there is substantial public concern, particularly over the effects of fracking on water supplies. Furthermore, the regulatory environment surrounding fracking is quite nascent, as both governments and industry remain uncertain as to what the risks are of using this technique. As such, there is uncertainty as to what extent, and how quickly, these natural gas deposits can be developed.
- 26 http://www.winnipegfreepress.com/business/asian-market-looking-for-natural-gas-iea-executive-director-says-166308126.html.
- 27 US Energy Information Administration, Annual Energy Outlook 2012.
- 28 Natural gas is often converted to a liquid form before being shipped for ease of storage and transport.
- 29 US Energy Information Administration. 2011. *Country Profile: Australia*. Accessed at http://www.eia.gov/ countries/cab.cfm?fips=AS.
- 30 2012. Australia Ministry of Resources and Energy, News Release (July). Accessed at http://minister.ret.gov.au/mediacentre/mediareleases/pages/australianlngexportstriple.aspx.
- 31 M.C. Moore et al. 2011. "Catching the Brass Ring: Oil Market Diversification Potential for Canada." *School of Public Policy SPP Research Papers* (4) 16. Accessed at http://policyschool.ucalgary.ca/sites/default/files/ research/mmoore-oilmarket.pdf.
- 32 Wenran Jiang. 2010. "The Dragon Returns: Canada in China's Quest for Energy Security." *China Papers* (19). Accessed at http://www.opencanada.org/wp-content/uploads/2011/05/The-Dragon-Returns_-Canada-in-China%E2%80%99s-Quest-for-Energy-Security-Wenran-Jiang.pdf. Chinese acquisitions in Canada include a share in the Syncrude project, and Athabasca Oil Sands Corp, among many others. Chinese enterprises have also invested in the US, Russia, Africa, and many other countries.
- 33 Paul Chastko. 2004. Developing Alberta's Oil Sands. Calgary: University of Calgary Press.
- 34 Centre for Energy: http://www.centreforenergy.com/FactsStats/MapsCrossBorder/Default.asp?page=3.

- 35 See appendix 1 for a more fulsome discussion. We note that the approval to reverse part of Enbridge Line 9 seems to indicate that there may be a future for refining western Canadian crude in eastern and Atlantic Canada.
- 36 Paul Cralovic. 2012. *Pacific Access: Overview of Transportation Options*. Canadian Energy Research Institute Accessed at http://www.ceri.ca/images/stories/2012-02-07_Pacific_Access_Overview_of_Transportation_Options.pdf.
- 37 Claudia Cattaneo. March 2, 2012. "As pipelines stall, railways keep oil flowing." *Financial Post*. http:// business.financialpost.com/2012/03/02/as-pipelines-stall-railways-keep-oil-flowing/_
- 38 Yadullah Hussain. May 9, 2012. "Is rail a viable alternative to pipelines?: S&P." *Financial Post*. http://business. financialpost.com/2012/05/09/is-rail-a-viable-alternative-to-oil-pipelines-sp/.
- 39 Alberta Energy Resources Conservation Board. 2012. "Production and Reserves." Accessed at http://www.ercb. ca/learn-about-energy/energy-in-alberta/production-reserves#note01.
- 40 Coking is the process of heating coal in a coke oven in the absence of air to high temperatures between 1000° C and 1100° C for 16 to 20 hours to produce a very pure form of carbon. It also refers to removing carbon from bitumen to produce lighter hydrocarbons. Metallurgical coke is produced from coal through the coking process, and is used to smelt iron ore, among other applications.
- 41 Christopher E. Smith. 2012. "China's ability to process Canadian heavy oil limited." *Oil and Gas Journal*. http://www.ogj.com/articles/2012/07/oshot-chinas-ability-to-process-canadian-heavy-oil-limited.html.
- 42 Anthony DiPaola. February 14, 2012. "Reliance Will Expand Janmagar Refinery Petrochemicals Output." *Bloomberg Businessweek*. http://www.businessweek.com/news/2012-02-14/reliance-will-expand-jamnagarrefinery-petrochemicals-output.html.
- 43 For example, a ConocoPhillips and Cenovus joint venture to add a coker and expand refining capacity at the Wood River site in Illinois took three years and \$3.8 billion to build.
- 44 In 2011 in Canada, refinery utilization was 81 percent (Canadian Association of Petroleum Producers, *Statistical Handbook*, http://www.capp.ca/library/statistics/handbook/pages/statisticalTables.
 aspx?sectionNo=7). In the US Gulf Coast (PADD III) utilization was 88 percent in 2011 (Energy Information Administration, *Refinery Utilization and Capacity*, http://www.eia.gov/dnav/pet/pet_pnp_unc_dcu_r30_a. htm).
- 45 Refineries also prefer to serve local markets so that they can tailor their products to reflect seasonal demand and weather related needs. Thus, blends produced in Canada may not be suitable for distant markets.
- 46 Conference Board of Canada. 2011. *Canada's Petroleum Refining Sector: An Important Contributor Facing Global Challenges*.
- 47 Zhou Yan. June 18, 2011. "Sinopec plans new refinery complex." *China Daily*. http://usa.chinadaily.com.cn/ business/2011-06/18/content_12728549.htm; Irving Oil. Nd. *Introduction to Irving Oil*. http://irvingoil.com/ files/Introduction_to_Irving_Oil.pdf, author's calculations.
- 48 Peter O'Neil. April 3, 2012. "Oilsands crude shipped to Asia could kill Burnaby refinery, MP warns." Vancouver Sun. http://www.vancouversun.com/business/Oilsands+crude+shipped+Asia+could+kill+Burna by+refinery+warns/6087475/story.html.
- 49 For a detailed report see: Len Coad. 2008. "Making Canada More Competitive: Improving Major Project Regulation in Canada." *Conference Board of Canada*. http://www.conferenceboard.ca/e-Library/abstract. aspx?did=2755.

- 50 Departments and agencies that could be involved include Transport Canada, Environment Canada, Canadian Environmental Assessment Agency, Natural Resources Canada, Department of Fisheries and Oceans, Aboriginal Affairs and Northern Development Canada, National Energy Board, and Canadian Nuclear Safety Commission. In addition to federal government entities, provincial and First Nations entities are also involved in project reviews.
- 51 Canadian Energy Pipeline Association member companies believe that MPMO has made progress in reducing overall project timelines and in understanding and coordinating federal Crown consultation obligations. See July 2011 letter to Natural Resources Minister Joe Oliver: http://www.cepa.com/wp-content/uploads/2011/07/ CEPA-letter-re-MPMO.pdf.
- 52 "The changes broadly outlined in the federal budget will improve our business climate and competitiveness without compromising our commitment to responsible, sustainable development." Canadian Association of Petroleum Producers: http://www.capp.ca/aboutUs/mediaCentre/NewsReleases/Pages/2012-federal-budget. aspx.
- 53 The social license is the level of acceptance or approval continually granted to an organization's operations or project by local community and other stakeholders.
- 54 July 20, 2012. "Enbridge pitches safety upgrades to Northern Gateway." CBC News. http://www.cbc.ca/news/business/story/2012/07/20/northern-gateway-enbridge.html; Andre Plourde and Ed Whittingham. 2009.
 "A Complicated Tale-Developing Energy in Canada is not a Simple Matter." *Energy Framework Initiative*. Accessed at http://www.cga.ca/wp-content/uploads/2012/02/Pillar-4-Final-Paper-Plourde-Whittingham1.pdf.
- 55 BC Chamber of Commerce. 2007. "First Nation Consultation and Accommodation: A Business Perspective." 11. http://www.bcchamber.org/advocacy/files/First_Nation_Consultation_Paper--A_Business_Perspective.pdf.
- 56 Ian Urquhart. 2010. "Between the Sands and a Hard Place?: Aboriginal People and the Oil Sands." The Buffet Centre for International and Comparative Studies. Accessed at http://www.bcics.northwestern.edu/ documents/workingpapers/Energy_10-005_Urquhart.pdf.
- 57 Mining Facts. "What is the role of mining companies in Aboriginal consultation?" Accessed at http://miningfacts.org/What_is_the_role_of_mining_companies_in_aboriginal_consultation.aspx.
- 58 BC Chamber of Commerce, 5.
- 59 Drew Hasselback. March 6, 2012. "Native law a growing field." *Financial Post*. http://business.financialpost. com/2012/03/06/pdac-2012-native-law-a-growing-field/.
- 60 Jeff Gray. March 6, 2012. "A cautionary tale for the mining industry." *Globe and Mail*. http://www. theglobeandmail.com/report-on-business/industry-news/the-law-page/a-cautionary-tale-for-the-mining-industry/ article2360860/<u>.</u>
- 61 These include the Canadian Energy Pipeline Association, the Canadian Association of Petroleum Producers, Suncor, and Syncrude.
- 62 Petroleum Human Resources Council of Canada. 2012. *Canada's Oil and Gas Labour Market Outlook to 2015*. Accessed at http://www.petrohrsc.ca/media/22451/final_canada_og_labour_market_outlook_to_2015_fact_sheet_may_2012.pdf.
- 63 Petroleum Human Resource Council. 2011. *The Decade Abead: Labour Market Projections and Analysis for Canada's Oil and Gas Industry to 2020*. Petroleum Human Resource Council. http://www.petrohrsc.ca/ media/19533/q3-q4_2011_petroleum_hr_trends_and_insights_report_final_december_2011.pdf.
- 64 Government of Alberta. 2012. *Final Report: Premier Alison Redford's Mission to Chicago, Illinois*. Government of Alberta. Accessed at http://www.international.alberta.ca/documents/International/ MissionReport-Premier-Chicago-Feb2012.pdf.

- 65 Government of Canada. 2012. *Government of Canada helps internationally trained professionals in Alberta get good jobs*. Government of Canada. http://news.gc.ca/web/article-eng.do?nid=688739. See also: William Robson. 2009. "Knowledge and Human Capital in Canada's Energy Sector: Issues, Gaps and Priorities." *Energy Framework Initiative*. Accessed at http://www.energyframework.ca/assets/files/Pillar5FINAL.pdf.
- 66 Jeff Lewis. 2012. "Is Alberta losing a global war for talent?" *Alberta Oil Magazine*, August. http://www.albertaoilmagazine.com/2012/08/albertas-battle-to-lure-skilled-workers-faces-global-competition/.
- 67 Canadian Chamber of Commerce. 2010. *Ready for Business: Canada's Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal Businesses as Equal Partners*." Canadian Chamber of Commerce. Accessed at http://www.chamber.ca/images/uploads/Reports/2010/Aboriginal-paper_Dec2010.pdf.
- 68 Conference Board of Canada. 2012. Understanding the Value, Challenges and Opportunities of Engaging Metis, Inuit and First Nations Workers. Canadian Chamber of Commerce. Accessed at http://www.conferenceboard.ca/e-library/abstract.aspx?did=4886.
- 69 Centre for the Study of Living Standards. 2012. *Aboriginal Labour Market Performance in Canada: 2007-2011*. Centre for the Study of Living Standards. Accessed at http://www.csls.ca/reports/csls2012-04.pdf.
- 70 Formerly the Trade, Investment, and Labour Mobility Agreement (TILMA).
- 71 June 20, 2012. "The New West Partnership Trade Agreement was supposed to make doing business easier in Western Canada." *Alberta Venture*. http://albertaventure.com/2012/06/ the-new-west-partnership-trade-agreement-was-supposed-to-make-doing-business-easier-for-western-canada/.
- 72 The Current TPP negotiating parties are Brunei, Singapore, Chile, New Zealand, Australia, Malaysia, Peru, US, Vietnam, Mexico, and Canada.
- 73 Laura Dawson. 2012. "Can Canada Join the TPP? Why Just Wanting It Is Not Enough." CD Howe Commentary 340. Accessed at www.cdhowe.org/pdf/Commentary_340.pdf.
- 74 The GATT is a multilateral agreement regulating trade in goods. It was signed in 1947 at a UN Conference in Trade and Employment. It is the foundational agreement of the World Trade Organization established in 1994.
- 75 United Nations Conference on Trade and Development. 2000. *Trade Agreements, Petroleum and Energy Policies*. UNCTAD/ITCD/TSB/9, 14-15. Accessed at http://unctad.org/en/docs/poitcdtsbd9.en.pdf.
- 76 Lawrence L. Herman. 2009. "Energy trade, carbon emissions and the WTO." *Journal of World Energy Law & Business* 2 (3), 205. This is an example of a process standard as opposed to an end product standard because the shrimp sold to consumers does not actually contain any turtle.
- 77 Défense Terre. 2011. *Legal Analysis: WTO Implications of Reporting Measures for Tar Sands Under the Fuel Quality Directive*. http://www.transportenvironment.org/sites/default/files/media/2011%2006%20WTO%20 and%20Tar%20Sands_FINAL.PDF.
- 78 The EU's Fuel Quality Directive (FQD) is a regulation intended to contribute to emissions reductions goals by assigning values to fuel. It is targeted at transport suppliers. Certain fuels are assigned a higher emissions value, which in turn will discourage their use, as they are counterproductive to achieving GHG goals. The FQD currently proposes to assign a higher value to bitumen than to conventional crude oil. The crux of the issue is that the proposal is based not on emissions produced during combustion (for which bitumen is comparable to conventional oil) but on emissions produced during production and upgrading of bitumen. It can thus be interpreted as a discriminatory measure. The American Clean Energy and Security Act contained border adjustment measures based on the GHG emissions of imported goods. It passed in the House of Representatives but died in the Senate. If passed, it would have restricted market access in the US for Canadian oil sands products.

- 79 James Burkhard et al. 2011."Oil Sands, Greenhouse Gases, and European Oil Supply Getting the Numbers Right." IHS CERA.
- 80 Arthur J. Hanson. 2010. "China as an Environmentally Responsible Global Citizen." *Canadian International Council*. Accessed at http://www.opencanada.org/wp-content/uploads/2011/05/China-as-an-Environmentally-Responsible-Global-Citizen-Arthur-J.-Hanson1.pdf.
- 81 Laura Dawson. 2012. "Potash and Blackberries: Should Canada Treat All FDI the Same?" *MLI Commentary*. Accessed at http://www.macdonaldlaurier.ca/files/pdf/Should-Canada-Treat-All-FDI-The-Same-Commentary-June-2012.pdf.
- 82 Andrew Leach. April 14, 2012. "Your oilsands royalty primer." Accessed at http://andrewleach.ca/oilsands/ your-oilsands-royalty-primer/.
- 83 Canadian Energy Research Institute. 2012. *Canadian Oil Sands Supply Costs and Development Projects:* 2011-2045. Study No. 128. Accessed at http://www.ceri.ca/images/stories/2012-03-22_CERI_Study_128.pdf.
- 84 In the instance of the Upper Churchill Falls hydro project, Quebec agreed to buy hydro from Newfoundland at a price that soon proved to be well below market value. Quebec exports this hydro to the US at market value, making a profit from the differential. They have refused repeatedly to re-open the contract and negotiate a fair price with Newfoundland. The contract is valid until 2041. This matter has essentially eliminated the prospects of future cooperation between the two provinces.
- 85 See: Natural Resources Canada. "Refinery Economics." http://www.nrcan.gc.ca/energy/sources/petroleumproducts-market/1519; and National Energy Board. "Energy Facts." http://www.neb-one.gc.ca/clf-nsi/ rnrgynfmtn/nrgyrprt/nrgdmnd/nrgytrdfct2011/nrgtrdfct-eng.pdf.
- 86 Canadian Association of Petroleum Producers. 2012. Crude Oil Forecasts, Markets and Pipelines. Accessed at http://www.capp.ca/getdoc.aspx?DocId=209546&DT=NTV.
- 87 Low sulphur requirements are imposed because in an internal combustion engine, sulphur damages emission control systems and is released into the atmosphere as sulphur dioxide, a major air pollutant and cause of acid rain.
- 88 Conference Board of Canada (October 2011), *Canada's Petroleum Refining Sector: An Important Contributor Facing Global Challenges*. Accessed at <http://www.cppi.ca/userfiles/file/12-051_CanadaPetroleumRefiningSectorFINAL.pdf>
- 89 Rachel Mendelson. May 24, 2012. "Why aren't we building refineries in Canada? Because it's too late, experts say." *Huffington post* Canada. http://www.iseee.ca/news-events/in-the-news/2012/05/24/ why-arent-we-building-refineries-in-canada-because-its-too-late-experts-say/.
- 90 M.C. Moore et al. 2011. "Catching the Brass Ring: Oil Market Diversification Potential for Canada." *School of Public Policy SPP Research Papers* (4) 16. Accessed at http://policyschool.ucalgary.ca/sites/default/files/ research/mmoore-oilmarket.pdf.
- 91 "The changes broadly outlined in the federal budget will improve our business climate and competitiveness without compromising our commitment to responsible, sustainable development", Canadian Association of Petroleum Producers: http://www.capp.ca/aboutUs/mediaCentre/NewsReleases/Pages/2012-federal-budget. aspx.



MACDONALD-LAURIER INSTITUTE

True North in Canadian Public Policy

Critically Acclaimed, Award-Winning Institute

The Macdonald-Laurier Institute fills a gap in Canada's democratic infrastructure by focusing our work on the full range of issues that fall under Ottawa's jurisdiction.

- "One of the Top 5 New Think Tanks in the World" for 2011 as rated by the University of Pennsylvania.
- Cited by five present and former Canadian Prime Ministers, as well as by David Cameron, the British Prime Minister.
- First book, *The Canadian Century: Moving out* of *America's Shadow*, won the Sir Antony Fisher International Memorial Award in 2011.
- Executive Director & Founder Brian Lee Crowley named one of 100 most influential people in Ottawa in 2012.
- The *Wall Street Journal*, *The Economist*, *The Globe and Mail*, *The National Post* and many other leading national and international publications have quoted the Institute's work.



Former Speaker of the House of Commons Peter Milliken, former Prime Minister Joe Clark, former Prime Minister Jean Chrétien, and MLI Managing Director Brian Lee Crowley.

Ideas Change the World

Independent and non-partisan, the Macdonald-Laurier Institute is increasingly recognized as the thought leader on national issues in Canada, prodding governments, opinion leaders and the general public to accept nothing but the very best public policy solutions for the challenges Canada faces.

Where You've Seen Us



About the Macdonald-Laurier Institute

What Do We Do?

When you change how people think, you change what they want and how they act. That is why thought leadership is essential in every field. At MLI, we strip away the complexity that makes policy issues unintelligible and present them in a way that leads to action, to better quality policy decisions, to more effective government, and to a more focused pursuit of the national interest of all Canadians. MLI is the only nonpartisan, independent national public policy think tank based in Ottawa that focuses on the full range of issues that fall under the jurisdiction of the federal government.

What Is in a Name?

The Macdonald-Laurier Institute exists not merely to burnish the splendid legacy of two towering figures in Canadian history – Sir John A. Macdonald and Sir Wilfrid Laurier – but to renew that legacy. A Tory and a Grit, an English speaker and a French speaker – these two men represent the very best of Canada's fine political tradition. As prime minister, each championed the values that led to Canada assuming her place as one of the world's leading democracies. We will continue to vigorously uphold these values, the cornerstones of our nation.





Working for a Better Canada

Good policy doesn't just happen; it requires good ideas, hard work, and being in the right place at the right time. In other words, it requires MLI. We pride ourselves on independence, and accept no funding from the government for our research. If you value our work and if you believe in the possibility of a better Canada, consider making a tax-deductible donation. The Macdonald-Laurier Institute is a registered charity.

Our Issues

The Institute undertakes an impressive programme of thought leadership on public policy. Some of the issues we have tackled recently include:

- The impact of banning oil tankers on the West Coast;
- Making Canada a food superpower in a hungry world;
- Aboriginal people and the management of our natural resources;
- Population ageing and public finances;
- The vulnerability of Canada's critical infrastructure;
- Ottawa's regulation of foreign investment; and
- How to fix Canadian health care.

Macdonald-Laurier Institute Publications



Winner of the Sir Antony Fisher International Memorial Award BEST THINK TANK BOOK IN 2011, as awarded by the Atlas Economic Research Foundation.

The Canadian Century By Brian Lee Crowley, Jason Clemens, and Niels Veldhuis Do you want to be first to hear about new policy initiatives? Get the inside scoop on upcoming events?

Visit our website www.MacdonaldLaurier.ca and sign up for our newsletter.

RESEARCH PAPERS



Pills, Patents & Profits II Brian Ferguson and Kristina Lybecker



Canada's Critical Infrastructure Andrew Graham



Reforming the Canada Health Transfer Jason Clemens



Clarity on the Legality of Secession Hon. Stéphane Dion



Migrant Smuggling Benjamin Perrin



Canada's Looming Fiscal Squeeze Christopher Ragan



Why Canadian Crime Statistics Don't Add Up Scott Newark



Canadian Agriculture and Food Larry Martin and Kate Stiefelmeyer



MACDONALD-LAURIER INSTITUTE *True North in Canadian Public Policy*

CONTACT US: Macdonald-Laurier Institute 8 York Street, Suite 200 Ottawa, Ontario, Canada K1N 586

TELEPHONE: (613) 482-8327

WEBSITE:

www.MacdonaldLaurier.ca





@MLInstitute



www.facebook.com/ MacdonaldLaurierInstitute



www.youtube.com/ MLInstitute

What people are saying about the Macdonald-Laurier Institute

I commend Brian Crowley and the team at MLI for your laudable work as one of the leading policy think tanks in our nation's capital. The Institute has distinguished itself as a thoughtful, empirically-based and nonpartisan contributor to our national public discourse.

PRIME MINISTER STEPHEN HARPER

As the author Brian Lee Crowley has set out, there is a strong argument that the 21st Century could well be the Canadian Century. BRITISH PRIME MINISTER DAVID CAMERON

In the global think tank world, MLI has emerged quite suddenly as the "disruptive" innovator, achieving a well-deserved profile in mere months that most of the established players in the field can only envy. In a medium where timely, relevant, and provocative commentary defines value, MLI has already set the bar for think tanks in Canada.

PETER NICHOLSON, FORMER SENIOR POLICY ADVISOR TO PRIME MINISTER PAUL MARTIN

The reports and studies coming out of MLI are making a difference and the Institute is quickly emerging as a premier Canadian think tank.

JOCK FINLAYSON, EXECUTIVE VICE PRESIDENT OF POLICY, BUSINESS COUNCIL OF BRITISH COLUMBIA

Very much enjoyed your presentation this morning. It was first-rate and an excellent way of presenting the options which Canada faces during this period of "choice"... Best regards and keep up the good work.

> PRESTON MANNING, PRESIDENT AND CEO, MANNING CENTRE FOR BUILDING DEMOCRACY